### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

2 3	BARRY HARRIS,	Electronically Filed ) DOCKET NO. App 18 2022 03:04 p.m.	
4	Appellant,	) DIST. CASE NO. Etizabeth 93.5 Byown ) Clerk of Supreme Court	
5   6	VS.		
7	THE STATE OF NEVADA,	)	
8	Respondent.	)	
10	APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF		
11	APPELLANT'S	OPENING DRIEF	
12	DUSTIN R. MARCELLO, Esq.	STEVE WOLFSON	
13   14	Nevada Bar No.: 10134 <b>DUSTIN R. MARCELLO, CHTD.</b>	Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Clark County Courthouse	
15 16	601 LAS VEGAS BOULEVARD PHONE: (702) 474-7554 FAX: (702) 474-4210	200 Lewis Avenue Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

## ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

WAS HARRIS DENIED HIS RIGHT TO BE PRESENT AT A CRITICAL STAGE OF THE PROCEEDING WHEN HIS COUNSEL WAIVED HIS RIGHT TO BE PRESENT AT THE EVIDENTIARY HEARING

WAS TRIAL COUNSEL INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO CHALLENGE DENIAL OF A WRIT OF MANDAMUS OR OTHERWISE PURSUING A WRIT OF MANDAMUS TO THE NEVADA SUPREME COURT

WAS APPELLATE COUNSEL INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO RAISE THE ISSUES OF ERROR RELATED TO THE JUSTICE COURT PROCEEDINGS CONTRARY TO THE DIRECTION OF HARRIS, OR OTHERWISE INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO RAISE OTHER LEGAL ISSUES ON DIRECT APPEAL

WAS HARRIS DENIED EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL DUE TO CUMULATIVE ERRORS OF TRIAL AND APPELLATE COUNSEL

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Petitioner Barry Harris ("Harris") appeals form an Order of the Honorable Justice Christy Craig of the Eighth Judicial District Court denying relief on his Post-Conviction Writ of Habeas Corpus challenging his restraint on conviction and sentence after jury trial and conviction.

///

#### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

#### **Prologue**

Harris was not present at the evidentiary hearing on his Writ of Habeas Corpus and was unable to provide testimony that would have been direct conflict with the testimony given by his trial and appellate Counsel. Harris would have testified that his trial counsel and appellate counsel were ineffective. Specifically, Harris would have testified to meritorious legal issues not raised at the trial court level and on appeal; and, that there were several cumulative errors that led trial and appellate counsel to ineffective.

Due to these errors, it is respectfully requested the Court grant the following relief: (1) consider the issue of the denial of the writ of mandamus and dismiss the case based on the State's disregard of Harris' rights at preliminary hearing, (2) overturn his conviction based on ineffective assistance of trial counsel, and/or (3) remand back to district court and conduct an evidentiary hearing with Harris present to testify.

#### **Justice Court Proceedings**

On or about August 23, 2017, Appellant was charged in the Las Vegas Justice Court with the following nine counts:

1. Burglary with Use of a Deadly Weapon

- 2. Kidnapping (First Degree) with Use of a Deadly Weapon Resulting in Substantial Bodily Harm
- 3. Assault with a Deadly Weapon
- 4. Battery with Use of a Deadly Weapon
- 5. Domestic Battery by Strangulation
- 6. Domestic Battery Resulting in Substantial Bodily Harm
- 7. Preventing or Dissuading a Witness
- 8. Carrying a Concealed Weapon
- 9. Ownership of a Gun by Prohibited Person

(Volume 2, Appellant's Appendix, pp. 432-5).1

Following brief competency proceedings wherein Appellant was found competent to proceed, a preliminary hearing was set on October 26, 2017 and November 3, 2017.

Both times, the named individually in the case, Nicole Dotson, refused to attend despite a valid subpoena. (2 AA, 425-31); (2 AA, 423-4). The State requested a material witness warrant, and Ms. Dotson was subsequently arrested on the warrant. The Preliminary hearing was bifurcated into two hearing taking place on December 14, 2017 and January 16, 2018. (2 AA, 303-405).

Following the Preliminary Hearing. Appellant was bound over to the Eighth Judicial District Court on all charges.

On both prior dates set for the Preliminary Hearing, Harris was present in custody and ready to proceed, but the alleged victim failed to appear. Unable to

Hereafter cited as: (Volume Number, AA, page number(s))

proceed with the hearing, the State moved to continue the case and requested a material witness warrant for the named victim. (2 AA 425-31). In support of the Motion, the State made the following representations:

"Essentially what happened is we were in contact with her. She did, Nicole Dotson, the named victim, she did identify herself. She was informed of the court date, we did text her a copy of the subpoena and she verified the address that we mailed the subpoena to as well and then she refused to promise to appear and we lost contact with her and we weren't able to get a hold of her again."

(2 AA, 426).

At no point was the prosecutor under oath. Additionally, the prosecutor neither previously submitted an affidavit pursuant to *Hill*,<sup>2</sup> nor did the Defendant stipulate to an oral motion for a continuance pursuant to *Bustos*<sup>3</sup>.

Mr. Ramsey from the Clark County Public Defender's Office was representing Harris during this hearing. Mr. Ramsey objected Mr. Ramsey argued that "[t]he State hasn't met their due diligence to serve her [Ms. Dotson] with a subpoena. There is no personal service." (2 AA, 427). Mr. Ramsey also argued that Nevada law does not support serving a subpoena via text message, and while there

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Hill v. Sherriff of Clark County, 85 Nev. 234 (Nev. 1969)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Bustos v. Sherriff, 87 Nev. 622 (Nev. 1971)

is some language in support of oral promises to appear, the alleged victim specifically told the State she would not appear. (2 AA, 427).

Despite failing to submit a written affidavit pursuant to *Hill*, or being sworn under oath pursuant to *Bustos*, and over Harris' objection, the Judge Tobiassian granted the continuance, set an Order to Show Cause hearing for November 2, and reset the preliminary hearing for November 9, 2017. (2 AA, 430). Judge Tobiassian acknowledged the State's motion did not comply with *Hill* nor *Bustos*, nor did the State's attempts to serve the alleged victim constitute service as defined by statute. (2 AA, 429).

Harris had been in custody almost 60 days when the case was continued over his objection.

#### Writ of Mandamus

On November 3, 2017, Mr. Ramsey filed a Writ of Mandamus in District Court Case No.: A-17-764110-W, based on the continuance granted by Judge Tobiassian in Justice Court. (2 AA, 411-22). The Writ of Mandamus was assigned to the Honorable Judge Douglas Williams. (2 AA, 406). Harris remained in custody while the Writ of Mandamus was pending. Judge Smith found the continuance was granted for good cause as outlined by the State at the October 26,

2017, hearing. (2 AA, 409-10). On that basis, the Writ of Mandamus was denied. *Id.* 

#### **District Court Proceedings**

On January 17, 2018, Harris was charged by way of Information with the charges bound over from justice court. (2 AA 437-8). On April 9, 2018, the State filed an Amended Information, removing Count 9 charging ex-felon in possession. (*Id*).

Harris invoked his right to a speedy trial within 60-days. However, Harris' Trial Counsel requested, and was granted, a short continuance over Harris' objection.

On April 9, 2018, Petitioner proceeded to jury trial. After five (5) days of trial, on April 16, 2018, the jury returned its Verdict, as follows: Count 1 – Not Guilty; Count 2 – Guilty of First Degree Kidnapping Resulting in Substantial Bodily Harm; Count 3 – Guilty of Assault; Count 4 – Guilty of Battery Constituting Domestic Violence; Count 5 – Not Guilty; Count 6 – Guilty of Battery Resulting in Substantial Bodily Harm Constituting Domestic Violence; Count 7 – Not Guilty; and Count 8 – Not Guilty.

On August 14, 2019, Petitioner appeared for sentencing. Petitioner was adjudged guilty, consistent with the jury's verdict, and was sentenced, as follows:

Count 2 – LIFE in the Nevada Department of Corrections ("NDC"), with the possibility of parole after fifteen (15) years; Count 3 – six (6) months in the Clark County Detention Center ("CCDC"), concurrent with Count 2; Count 4 – six (6) months in CCDC, concurrent with Count 3; Count 6 – twenty-four (24) to sixty (60) months in NDC, concurrent with Count 2. The Court credited Petitioner with 351 days time served. Petitioner's Judgment of Conviction was filed on August 16, 2018. (2 AA, 438).

#### **Direct Appeal**

On August 21, 2018, Petitioner filed a pro per Notice of Appeal. On December 19, 2020, the Nevada Supreme Court affirmed Petitioner's conviction. Remittitur issued on January 16, 2020. (2 AA, 266-74).

On February 7, 2020, Petitioner filed a second Notice of Appeal. On March 6, 2020, the Nevada Supreme Court dismissed Petitioner's second appeal. Remittitur issued on April 1, 2020. (1 AA, 209-11); (2 AA, 438).

#### **Pro Per Post-Conviction Petition**

On April 21, 2020, Petitioner filed a pro per Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Postconviction) and Ex Parte Motion for Appointment of Counsel and Request for Evidentiary Hearing. (1 AA, 190-206). The State filed its Response on October 2, 2020. (1 AA, 163-87). On November 3, 2020, the Court granted

1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 |

Petitioner's Motion for Appointment of Counsel, and on November 24, 2020, Mr. Allen Lichtenstein, Esq. confirmed as counsel for Petitioner. (1 AA, 126).

On April 8, 2021, Petitioner, through counsel, filed his Supplemental Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Postconviction) (his "Supplement"). On June 10, 2021, the State filed its Response. On August 26, 2021, the District Court held an evidentiary hearing.

#### **Evidentiary Hearing**

An evidentiary hearing was heard before the Honorable Christy Craig on August 26, 2021. (1 AA, 13-71). Prior to that time, Harris filed a Pro Per motion to request to be transported to the hearing. (1 AA, 72-4). However, Harris was not transported to the evidentiary hearing and no arrangements were made for him to appear by telephone. Judge Craig gave Petitioner Counsel, Mr. Lichtenstein, the option to bifurcate the hearing for Harris to testify, but Petition Counsel indicated he was prepared to go forward without Harris being present and did not believe a bifurcated hearing was needed. (1 AA, 15-7).

Three witnesses were called during the evidentiary hearing: Scott Ramsey, Damian Sheets and Kelsey Bernstein. (1 AA, 14) Mr. Ramsey works for the Public Defender's Office and represented Harris in Justice Court and was the attorney who filed the original Writ of Mandamus to District Court. (1 AA, 65-6) Mr.

Sheets represented Harris in District Court and at trial. (1 AA, 49-53) Ms. Bernstein represented Harris on direct appeal. (1 AA, 54-5)

Mr. Ramsey testified that he was prepared to file an appeal of Judge Smith's denial of the Writ of Mandamus challenging the decision of Judge Tobiassian in Justice Court granting multiple continuances to the State in violation of *Bustos* and *Hill*. Mr. Ramsey stated that Harris told him he did not wish to pursue an appeal of Judge Smith's order denying the Writ of Mandamus.

Mr. Sheets took over representation of Harris in the District Court. (1 AA, 44-5). Mr. Sheets testified that Harris did not wish to pursue an appeal or seek a Writ of Mandamus to the Nevada Supreme Court. (1 AA, 48-9). Instead, Mr. Sheets stated that Harris wanted to go to trial as quickly as possible.

Mr. Sheets stated that he gave Harris is discovery including police reports and witnesses statements subject to redactment of personally identifying information. (1 AA, 49) Mr. Sheets further stated that he did not provide body cam evidence to Harris, but he did make Harris aware of the contents of the body cam footage. (*Id.*)

Ms. Bernstein testified that she prepared the direct appeal for Harris. (1 AA, 55-8) She stated it was her strategic decision not to include a claim in the direct appeal related to the Writ of Mandamus or any error related to the Justice Court

proceedings. (1 AA, 55) Ms. Bernstein further testified that she believed a challenge to Judge Smith's denial of the Writ of Mandamus could not be raised in the direct appeal from the Judgment of Conviction. (1 AA, 56). Moreover, there were better issues to present on direct appeal and so she chose to focus on those issues at the exclusion of errors in the Justice Court proceedings. (1 AA, 55).

Following testimony of the witnesses and arguments by Petitioner Counsel, the Court denied the Petition. (1 AA, 69-71). A written order was filed on September 30, 2021. (1 AA, 4-12).

#### **Order Denying Petition**

To deny Harris' claim that Trial Counsel(s) were ineffective, the District Court relied on the testimony of Mr. Sheets and Mr. Ramsey that Harris did not wish to appeal the denial of the writ of mandamus and instead chose to go to trial as a quickly as possible. (1 AA, 10).

To deny Harris' claim that Appellate Counsel(s) were ineffective the District Court relied on the testimony Ms. Bernstein stating that it was a strategic decision to not appeal the denial of the writ of mandamus. (1 AA, 10).

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The district court erred in denying Harris' claims that his trial and appellate counsel were ineffective. Moreover, the district court compounded this error by not requiring Harris to be present to give testimony at the evidentiary hearing.

#### **ARGUMENT**

# HARRIS WAS DENIED DUE PROCESS WHEN THE EVIDENTIARY HEARING ON HIS POST CONVICTION WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS WAS PRESENTED WITHOUT HARRIS BEING PRESENT OR BEING ABLE TO TESTIFY

Criminal defendants generally have a right to be present at all levels of legal proceedings. *See Gallego v. State*, 117 Nev. 348, 367, 23 P.3d 227, 240 (2001), [\*4] abrogated on other grounds by *Nunnery v. State*, 127 Nev. 749, 263 P.3d 235 (2011); see also *Kentucky v. Stincer*, 482 U.S. 730, 745, 107 S. Ct. 2658, 96 L. Ed. 2d 631 (1987) (holding that a defendant has a due process right "to be present in his own person whenever his presence has a relation, reasonably substantial, to the fulness of his opportunity to defend against the charge") (*quoting Snyder v. Massachusetts*, 291 U.S. 97, 105-06, 54 S. Ct. 330, 78 L. Ed. 674 (1934)). But that right is not absolute. *Gallego*, 117 Nev. at 367, 23 P.3d at 240. "Violations of the right to be present are reviewed for harmless error." *Rose v. State*, 123 Nev. 194, 208, 163 P.3d 408, 417 (2007).

A defendant must show that being absent prejudiced him or her. *Kirksey v. State*, 112 Nev. 980, 1001, 923 P.2d 1102, 1115 (1996). The due process aspect of the right to be present is implicated when "a fair and just hearing would be thwarted by the defendant's absence." *Id.* at 1000, 923 P.2d 1115. But this right is not violated when such "presence would be useless, or the benefit but a shadow." *Stincer*, 482 U.S. at 745 (*quoting Snyder*, 291 U.S. at 106-07).

Here, Harris was not present for the evidentiary hearing. (1 AA, 72-4). Denial of the grounds raised in his Writ was based almost exclusively on the unchallenged testimony of his Trial Consel(s), Mr. Ramsey and Mr. Sheets, and appellate counsel, Ms. Bernstein. (1 AA, 69-71); (1 AA, 10).

Harris contends that Mr. Lichtenstein waived his appearance without his authority. (1 AA, 15-8). This would appear to be supported by the record, because Harris had clearly shown a desire and intention to be present for the evidentiary hearing by filing two Pro Se motions to allow him to be transported or appear telephonically. (1 AA, 183); (1, AA 72).

Harris contends his proposed testimony would be in direct contradiction of his trial counsel(s) and appellate counsel. Specifically, Harris would have offered the following testimony:

- 1. That Harris did wish to file a writ of mandamus to the Nevada Supreme

  Court and that his counsel told him he would do so, stated to the district

  court that he would do so, and that no appeal was filed;
- 2. That Harris was told he could not invoke his speedy trial rights and independently pursue a Writ of Mandamus;
- That his trial counsel did not provide certain body cam footage so he could be prepared for trial and/or make an informed decision whether to testify; and,
- 4. That he specifically directed his appellate counsel to raise the issue of the the State's *Bustos* violations granting of continuances.
- 5. That he specifically directed his appellate counsel to raise the issue of his denial of a speedy trial and perjury claim (Grounds 8 and 9 of his Pro Per Petition).

It is speculation whether such testimony would ultimately result in a different ruling, but what is clear is that Harris had a fundamental right to testify to these matters as it related to his Petition. A fair and just hearing cannot be had without Harris at least having the opportunity to testify in opposition to that of his Trial and Appellate Counsel. Especially, when the District Court relied on their

2
 3
 4

uncontested testimony in denying the Petition. Accordingly, relief is warranted, and the matter should be remanded back to District Court for Harris to testify.

HARRIS WAS DENIED THE AUTONOMY TO MAKE FUNDAMENTAL CHOICES ABOUT HIS OWN DEFENSE AND THEREFORE WAS DENIED EFFECTIVE REPRESENTATION OF APPELLATE COUNSEL

#### **Governing Law for Ineffective Claims**

In order to establish that counsel was ineffective, a defendant must show that: (1) counsel's performance was deficient because it fell below an objective standard of reasonableness measured by prevailing professional norms; and, (2) counsel's deficient performance prejudiced the defendant. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687-88 (1984); *Riley v. State*, 110 Nev. 638, 646, 878 P.2d 272, 277-78 (1995). The Court may consider both prongs in any order and need not consider them both when a defendant's showing on either prong is insufficient. *Kirksey v. State*, 112 Nev. 980, 987, 923 P.2d 1102, 1107 (1996).

A defendant demonstrates that Counsel's performance was deficient when he can establish that counsel made errors so grave that counsel was not functioning as the counsel guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment. *Strickland v. Washington, supra*, 466 U.S. at 687. To satisfy the prejudice prong of the Strickland standard, the Defendant must establish a reasonable probability that but for counsel's errors,

the defendant would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial. *Reeves v. State*, 113 Nev. 959, 960, 944 P.2d 795, 796 (1997). A reasonable probability means a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of the proceeding. *Kirksey v. State*, supra, 112 Nev. at 988.

#### **Ineffective Assistance of Appellate Counsel**

Autonomy claims, meanwhile, are premised on violations of a defendant's "right to make the fundamental choices about his own defense." McCoy v. Louisiana, 138 S. Ct. at 1500, 1511 (2018). The "right to defend" granted to the defendant "personally" in the Sixth Amendment protects not only his right to selfrepresentation, see Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806, 834, 95 S. Ct. 2525, 45 L. Ed. 2d 562 (1975), but also ensures that if the defendant chooses to be represented by counsel he retains the "[a]utonomy to decide . . . the objective of the defense." McCov, 138 S. Ct. at 1508. A represented defendant surrenders control to counsel over tactical decisions at trial while retaining the right to be the "master" of his own defense. See id.; Faretta, 422 U.S. at 820. Counsel can make decisions over matters of trial management, such as "the objections to make, the witnesses to call, and the arguments to advance." Gonzalez v. United States, 553 U.S. 242, 249, 128 S. Ct. 1765, 170 L. Ed. 2d 616 (2008).

But the defendant has "the ultimate authority to make certain fundamental decisions regarding the case." *Jones v. Barnes*, 463 U.S. 745, 751, 103 S. Ct. 3308, 77 L. Ed. 2d 987 (1983). The latter category of decisions "are not strategic choices about how best to achieve a client's objectives; they are choices about what the client's objectives in [\*16] fact are." *McCoy*, 138 S. Ct. at 1508. Those autonomous decisions that are reserved exclusively for the defendant include whether to plead guilty, waive the right to a jury trial, testify in one's own behalf, take an appeal, and admit guilt of a charged crime. *See id.; Jones*, 463 U.S. at 751. As with deprivation claims, usurpation of a defendant's autonomy is a structural error, obviating the need to show prejudice. *See McCov*, 138 S. Ct. at 1511.

Autonomy to decide that the objective of the defense is to assert innocence and raise issues affecting Due Process rights belongs in the category of decisions reserved for the client. These are not strategic choices about how best to achieve a client's objectives; they are choices about what the client's objectives in fact are. It is clear from the Pro-Per filings on appeal, post-conviction, and in district court that Harris wanted to raise numerous legal issues affecting important Due Process rights. A defendant must be allowed to make his own choices about the proper way to protect his own liberty. Our system of laws generally presumes that the

criminal defendant, after being fully informed, knows his own best interests and does not need them dictated by the State.

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