IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

BARRY HARRIS,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Jun 09 2022 01:49 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 83516

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Denial of Habeas Relief Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

DUSTIN R. MARCELLO, ESQ. Nevada Bar #010134 Dustin R. Marcello, CHTD. 601 Las Vegas Blvd. (702) 474-7554 STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

Id. at 1508 (internal citations omitted).

The <u>McCoy</u> Court held that the decision to assert innocence or represent oneself "are not strategic choices about how best to achieve a client's objectives; they are choices about what the client's objectives in fact are." <u>Id. McCoy</u> holds the defendant decides the objective of his defense.

By contrast, the defendant is bound by his attorney's decisions about conducting the trial. <u>Gonzalez</u>, 553 U.S. at 248, 128 S. Ct. at 1769. "Thus, decisions by counsel are generally given effect as to what arguments to pursue, what evidentiary objections to raise, and what agreements to conclude regarding the admission of evidence. Absent a demonstration of ineffectiveness, counsel's word on such matters is the last." <u>Id.</u>

Appellant asserts that his desire to raise certain legal issues was a decision regarding the defense's objective rather than a strategic way of achieving his objective. AOB at 16. He claims his attorneys were ineffective for failing to "pursue the object of representation." AOB at 18. Without citation, he claims our jurisprudence presumes the defendant knows his own best interests and "does not need them dictated by the State." AOB at 16-17.²

American jurisprudence presumes no such thing. The <u>Gonzalez</u> Court held that tactical decisions did not require client approval, as the attorney has the expertise and experience to consider the larger strategic plan for the trial. <u>Id.</u> at 249–50, 128 S. Ct. at 1770. The defendant chooses the objective of the representation, i.e.,

² Presumably, Appellant means he does not need them dictated by his attorney, as Appellant is likely not accusing the *State* of ineffective assistance of counsel.

whether to maintain his innocence or plead guilty and hope for mercy. The attorney, however, decides how to achieve that objective. The fact that Appellant continuously harped on the preliminary hearing does not mean his attorneys had to raise that issue if they did not feel it would be successful. The strategic decisions are entrusted to the attorney. Dawson, 108 Nev. at 117, 825 P.2d at 596

III. TRIAL COUNSEL WAS NOT INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO PURSUE AN APPEAL OF THE DENIAL OF THE WRIT WHEN APPELLANT INSISTED ON A SPEEDY TRIAL

Appellant argues the justice court erred in granting a continuance where the State did not swear under oath as to the circumstances surrounding the witness's absence. AOB at 18-26. As this issue was not raised on appeal, it is waived and it is thus not necessary to litigate the correctness of the justice court's decision. NRS 34.810(1) reads:

The court shall dismiss a petition if the court determines that:

(a) The petitioner's conviction was upon a plea of guilty or guilty but mentally ill and the petition is not based upon an allegation that the plea was involuntarily or unknowingly or that the plea was entered without effective assistance of counsel.

(b) The petitioner's conviction was the result of a trial and the grounds for the petition could have been:

. . .

(2) Raised in a direct appeal or a prior petition for a writ of habeas corpus or postconviction relief.

The Nevada Supreme Court has held that "challenges to the validity of a guilty plea and claims of ineffective assistance of trial and appellate counsel must first be pursued in post-conviction proceedings.... [A]ll other claims that are appropriate for a direct appeal must be pursued on direct appeal, or they will be *considered waived in subsequent proceedings*." Franklin v. State, 110 Nev. 750, 752, 877 P.2d 1058, 1059 (1994) (emphasis added) (disapproved on other grounds by Thomas v. State, 115 Nev. 148, 979 P.2d 222 (1999)). "A court must dismiss a habeas petition if it presents claims that either were or could have been presented in an earlier proceeding, unless the court finds both cause for failing to present the claims earlier or for raising them again and actual prejudice to the petitioner." Evans v. State, 117 Nev. 609, 646-47, 29 P.3d 498, 523 (2001).

Here, Appellant argues trial counsel was ineffective for not appealing the denial of his writ of mandamus concerning this issue to the Nevada Supreme Court before trial. AOB at 18, 25. He wanted to appeal its denial but his trial counsel told him he could not invoke his speedy trial rights if he delayed proceedings by appealing. AOB at 13. He claims trial counsel's failure to appeal the denial "deprived Harris of important control over the objectives of his defense." AOB at 25.

The district court denied the writ of mandamus because the justice court had the discretion to continue the hearing for good cause under NRS 171.196. 2 AA 300. The court found the avenues for seeking a continuance in <u>Bustos v. Sheriff, Clark</u> <u>County</u>, 87 Nev. 622 (1971) and <u>Hill v. Sheriff of Clark County</u>, 85 Nev. 234 (1969), were two of several avenues to seek a continuance. 2 AA 301. The justice court must review the totality of the circumstances. 2 AA 301 (citing <u>Sheriff, Clark Cty v.</u> Terpstra, 111 Nev. 860, 863, 899 P.2d 548, 551 (1995).

The district court found Appellant had directed his attorney not to seek an appeal that would delay his trial. 1 AA 10. The objective of Appellant's defense was to acquit him as quickly as possible. Mr. Ramsey, the attorney who filed the writ of mandamus, explained why he did not appeal the issue before the preliminary hearing:

I had a discussion with Mr. Harris once the writ was denied. He wasn't present for the hearing on the writ because it was placed on a civil calendar. I had a discussion with Mr. Harris about what he wanted to do. I had a discussion with the appeals team as far as what the process would be for appealing the denial of the writ. The appeals team essentially told me we can take it up on another writ of mandamus to the Supreme Court to get them to instruct the District Court to grant my initial writ of mandamus.

As far as the timeframe, which was a concern for Mr. Harris because he was very adamant that he wanted to go to trial quickly, in discussion with Mr. Harris about what we wanted to do with this he decided, and I let him have this decision, that he didn't want to delay his Preliminary Hearing any further, that we just needed to get the Preliminary Hearing to go forward, and were he convicted at trial we would take it up on direct appeal.

1 AA 66.

Of course, Mr. Ramsey did not represent Appellant on direct appeal because

Appellant wanted to dismiss him when Mr. Ramsey did not allow Appellant to

control the defense. RA at 20-22. Earlier though, when Mr. Ramsey could have appealed the writ's denial, Appellant did not want to. "The only reason he didn't want to do the appeals process or the other writ to the Supreme Court was because he wanted to go forward to trial because he thought he was going to win." 1 AA 67.

Trial counsel Mr. Sheets testified Appellant remained focused on his goal of proceeding to trial as soon as possible:

I seem to remember that Barry wanted to move faster than I felt comfortable with. I seem to remember over his objection seeking a continuance of just a couple of weeks or so to fill in some blanks. I seem to remember I was dealing with medical records, but, yeah, I seem to remember this was a quick moving trial and it was at the insistence of the client.

1 AA 47.

Appellate counsel Ms. Bernstein testified that her understanding was that "Mr. Harris did not want to waive his right to a speedy trial, so we lost a lot of challenges that we could have raised based on that." 1 AA 60.

Habeas counsel argued an "antsy" client should not cause an attorney to not appeal, because "clients oftentimes want to do things procedurally that are not in their best interest. That's why they have lawyers." 1 AA 68. "Mr. Harris may have wanted to get to trial but it was not in his best interest to do so, and it really is up to the attorney to proceed with the trial in a manner—or with the proceedings in a manner that is in the client's best interest." 1 AA 69. Interestingly, this is the opposite of what Appellant now argues—that his autonomy is threatened when his lawyer makes legal strategic decisions.

The district court accepted that trial counsel was correct in not appealing the denial of the writ of mandamus before the preliminary hearing, given Appellant's eagerness to proceed. 1 AA 69-70. During the hearing, however, the district court asked for more information as to why the issue was not raised on direct appeal. 1 AA 41-42.

I mean frankly extraordinary writs are things that the Supreme Court can choose not to hear. They don't think it's appropriate and they tell you to come back after the trial is over. Well, now we're back here, Mr. Harris is at that point where the trial is over, and if it's not raised then I'm not sure he can ever raise it again. ... I mean the prejudice is if it doesn't get raised on direct appeal it never gets heard.

1 AA 42.

To address the court's concerns, the State offered to call the three attorneys to permit them to testify. 1 AA 43. Mr. Lichtenstein cross-examined each attorney. 1 AA 50, 56, 66. Mr. Ramsey testified that when the writ of mandamus was denied, he decided not to pursue it further. 1 AA 65. At the Supreme Court level, he thought the writ would either win or "set some pretty bad case law for my client." 1 AA 67.

Given Appellant's eagerness to vindicate his actions at trial, the district court correctly found Mr. Ramsey and Mr. Sheets were not ineffective for failing to delay the matter by appealing to the Nevada Supreme Court. Petitioner claims Trial Counsel was ineffective for failing to appeal the justice court's denial of his pretrial Petition for Writ of Mandamus. However, Petitioner told his attorneys that he did not want to appeal the decision. Instead, he desired to have a jury trial as soon as possible. Petitioner may not direct Counsel to not seek an appeal and then later claim ineffective assistance of counsel. Thus, this Court denies Petitioner's claim.

1 AA 10.

IV. THE ALLEGED "CUMULATIVE" ERRORS ARE MERITLESS

Under a heading referring to "cumulative errors," Appellant does not argue the various claims in this appeal somehow interact to become greater than the sum of their parts. Rather, he takes the opportunity to include a few additional issues from his wish list of complaints challenging his conviction.

This Court considers the following factors in addressing a claim of cumulative error: (1) whether the issue of guilt is close; (2) the quantity and character of the error; and (3) the gravity of the crime charged. <u>Mulder v. State</u>, 116 Nev. 1, 17 (2000). Appellant must present all three elements to be successful on appeal. <u>Id.</u> Moreover, a defendant "is not entitled to a perfect trial, but only a fair trial." <u>Ennis</u> <u>v. State</u>, 91 Nev. 530, 533 (1975) (citing Michigan, 417 U.S. 433).

Appellant has not asserted any meritorious claims of error, and, thus, there is no error to cumulate. <u>United States v. Rivera</u>, 900 F.2d 1462, 1471 (10th Cir. 1990) ("...cumulative-error analysis should evaluate only the effect of matters determined to be error, *not the cumulative effect of non-errors*") (emphasis added). The issue of

guilt is not close, as his crimes were committed against a person who knew him well and who testified to his actions. The main complaint raised on habeas is that the charges against Appellant should have been dismissed when his victim failed to appear. This type of error, even if true, would not impact the actual evidence of guilt against Appellant adduced at trial. Finally, Appellant was acquitted of many of the crimes against him.

The miscellaneous complaints raised in this section lack merit.

A. Trial Counsel Cross-Examined the Victim at Trial

Appellant asserts trial counsel ineffectively cross-examined his victim. AOB at 26. He fails to provide, however, the trial transcript in which his attorney performed the cross-examination. He cites to Ms. Dotson's testimony at the preliminary hearing, when Mr. Ramsey was the attorney, to argue that trial attorney Mr. Sheets' strategy was to impeach Ms. Dotson. The defense strategy of Mr. Sheets at trial cannot be ascertained by a citation to Mr. Ramsey's performance at the preliminary hearing.

This complaint lacks any specificity regarding which parts of Ms. Dotson's testimony could have been impeached and by which prior inconsistent statements. Appellant merely "points out that Ms. Dotson gave conflicting versions of events during her arrest, at the preliminary hearing, and during trial." AOB at 26. He does not demonstrate which statements made at trial were impeachable based on which

statements made at the preliminary hearing. Regarding her "arrest," Appellant cites no statement Ms. Dotson made when she was picked up on a material witness warrant.

Trial counsel made a strategic decision not to include Ms. Dotson's more detailed versions of the attack given to police at the scene or made at the preliminary hearing, as this would only serve to make Appellant's case worse:

I ... felt strategically it would be better not to call out the fact that when it was closer to the date of the offense and closer to the date of the crime, she made certain allegations regarding firearms and pouring of lemonade and being dragged through the apartment, I felt that if I were to emphasize that to a jury that might actually hurt Mr. Harris more than it would help him.

I AA 49.

Counsel felt Ms. Dotson's testimony at trial was "much less hurtful to us than the statements she had given to police on the days of the event." 1 AA 49. If trial counsel had insisted the jury hear how she had described the attack and her injuries at the time Appellant attacked her, when she was hurt and angry, the jury would have been exposed to a much more harmful version. Trial counsel cannot be ineffective for preferring the version of events that paint Appellant in the best light. It defies logic to assert trial counsel had a duty to point out inconsistencies in her testimony at trial when those inconsistencies were not in Appellant's favor.

Because Appellant offers no substantive examples of opportunities to impeach Ms. Dotson's testimony, his claim is suitable only for summary denial under <u>Hargrove</u>, 100 Nev. at 502, 686 P.2d at 225. Even on its merits, his claim does not warrant relief under <u>Strickland</u>. Appellant does not allege, much less substantiate, that he was prejudiced by Mr. Sheets's failure to introduce worse versions of the events to the jury. Moreover, the jury returned verdicts of "Not Guilty" on multiple counts, and found him guilty of multiple lesser-included crimes, rather than what was charged in the Amended Information. Therefore, Appellant certainly does not establish prejudice sufficient to warrant relief under <u>Strickland</u>. 466 U.S. at 697, 104 S. Ct. at 2069 (when a petitioner fails to meet one prong of the <u>Strickland</u> analysis, examination of the other prong is unnecessary).

B. Appellant Fails to Support His Body Cam Evidence Claim

The next "cumulative error" complaint is that trial counsel failed "to adequately cross-examine the officers regarding body cam footage of their interview with Ms. Dotson." AOB at 26. He claims the officers coerced Ms. Dotson into making a statement against him and his counsel was ineffective for failing to impeach the officers or show their coercion. AOB at 26-27.

In his pro per petition, Appellant alleged the trial court erred on this issue: "Furthermore, if Judge Eric Johnson would have let petitioner's lawyer do his job, he should have asked for a dismissal on the bodycam grounds because it show officers telling the victim in this alleged case what to say and how to say what happen." 1 AA 197. He claims the judge "told petitioner's lawyer to tread lightly on body cam evidence." 1 AA 197. In its response, the State pointed out substantive issues not raised on direct appeal were waived. 1 AA 172. The State also noted Appellant did not support his contention with any specific factual allegations. 1 AA 173.

On appeal of the denial of his habeas petition, Appellant no longer faults the trial judge regarding the bodycam evidence. 1 AA 197. Instead, he has modified his claim into one of ineffective assistance of counsel for inadequately cross-examining the officers about the bodycam. AOB at 26-27. The district court did not consider this version of the claim below, and it may not be raised for the first time on appeal.

Appellant failed to explore the issue during his evidentiary hearing. Mr. Sheets testified that he reviewed the video body cameras before developing his defense strategy. 1 AA 46. He planned his strategy around "some of the officers' statements on the body camera footage." 1 AA 46. Counsel raised the issue of the body cam footage in both his opening and closing arguments. 1 AA 50.

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